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El Niño Ventures Inc. is a junior exploration company

focusing its efforts on copper exploration in the Democratic

Republic of Congo (DRC) and base metals exploration in the

Bathurst Mining Camp in Bathurst, New Brunswick and Ireland.

"Our first set of assay results,
recently reported from our
initial drill program, have
demonstrated that we are in
a highly mineralized area.
Our 2008 drill program, has
started and will continue
until October 2008.”

Jean Luc Roy, President & CEO
El Niño Ventures Inc.
May 2008

A mining explorat ion company on the move



El Niño Ventures is a junior exploration company focusing its efforts on base metals
exploration in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Ireland and Canada.

This year the company saw its exploration portfolio expanding in a new direction.  As my
previous experience includes more than five years in the DRC as Managing Director of
First Quantum Minerals Ltd., it was a natural fit for the company to seek and acquire
projects in that area of the world.  In May we acquired our first land positions in the
DRC, which are highly prospective for discoveries of world class copper and cobalt
deposits.  Initial work was carried out from October to December 2007 with the completion
of an airborne geophysical survey covering our entire land position and a preliminary
6,000 metre reverse circulation drill program.

We are very confident in our ability to operate in the DRC and 2008 will bring about an
extensive exploration program during which a 25,000 meter drill program is anticipated
to be completed on our properties. 

The Company also acquired 13 prospecting licenses prospective for zinc covering
approximately 500km2 in Ireland, where drilling is also planned.  The Company also
earned a 50% interest in 1,902 mineral claims in the Bathurst Mining Camp, New
Brunswick with Xstrata Zinc holding the other 50% interest.  We are now discussing
with Xstrata how to move the Bathurst project forward.

The Company raised over $11 million, providing the Company with sufficient working
capital to carry out its 2008 work programs in the DRC, Canada and Ireland.

Along with El Niño’s latest acquisitions, the company has continued to strengthen its
board of directors and management, by adding key people whose experience includes
working with producing mines and taking junior companies to the next level.  With its
strong management team and competent technical teams on the ground, El Niño has the 
fundamentals in place to make a significant impact in 2008.

At this time I would like to give a special mention to our dedicated 
corporate staff and technical consultants.  I would also like to 
welcome our newest members to the Board, Morris Medd, 
John Royall, and Damian Towns as well as our 
Exploration Manager in the DRC, Allan Lines.  I would 
also like to thank our Country Manager, who 
oversees the day to day operations in the 
DRC, Georges Kavvadias.

Sincerely

Jean Luc Roy, President & CEO

President ’s  Report  to  Shareholders
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Corporate Highlights

• On May 19th, 2007 El Niño Ventures Inc. (“El Niño”) entered into an option to acquire a 
70 % interest in four mineral research permits covering over 300 square kilometers in the 
Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC)

• 6,200 meters of reverse circulation drilling completed with initial results outlining 3.5 % 
copper over 10 meters

• Acquisition of additional 60 square kilometers in close proximity to Anvil Mining’s 
Kinsevere copper project

2008 Exploration Campaign

• Geochemical survey to be 
completed on new acquisition 

• 25,000 meter drill program 
underway in the DRC

• $4.5 million allocated for DRC 
exploration program

Congo Copper  Project

2
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El Niño’s 2008 drill targets

The DRC Copper Belt is a world renowned exploration area.  The belt is 350 kilometres
in length and on average 60 kilometres wide.  The known deposits have an average
grade of 4.1% copper and 0.4% cobalt.  This belt offers the best possible potential to find
high grade copper deposits and El Niño is focusing its efforts on its highly prospective
land position. 

In 2003, the Congolese Government approved a new investment code and a new mining
code and has designed a new commercial court.  
The goal of these initiatives is to attract investment by 
promising fair and transparent treatment to private 
business. 

Coupled with management’s significant experience in 
operating projects in the DRC, El Niño is committing 
substantial resources to exploration on its DRC land 
holdings with the objective of outlining mineral 
resources that may be brought into production.

The Company has acquired several land positions 
which total in excess of 350 square kilometres.  El Niño properties are strategically
placed along the Copper Belt.  The land position is situated between known discoveries
of Anvil Mining Limited and Tiger Resources Limited.  We have completed an airborne
geophysical survey and soil surveys over all of our properties.  Initial drilling in 2007 
outlined a high grade copper zone which graded 3.5% over a 10 meter core interval.
Following the compilation of all data over the winter, by our technical team, an aggressive
and specific drill program has been set up for 2008.

DRC Copper  Belt
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Bathurst  Zinc Project

4

2008 Objective

• To form a joint venture with 
Xstrata Zinc to reflect our 50% 
interest on land position
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The Bathurst, New Brunswick project was first announced in 2006, and was the stepping
stone for El Niño Ventures’ entry into the exploration sector.

The Bathurst Mining Camp is a world renowned mining camp with a billion dollar 
infrastructure; the camp is comprised of a major producer, past producing mines,
smelter and mill.  The camp includes one of the largest underground zinc mines in the
world, the Brunswick Number 12.  The Number 
12 mine is currently operating at 10,000 tonnes 
per day. 

The existing infrastructure at the Bathurst 
mining camp attracted us to this project and 
allowed us to explore one the most prolific 
base metals camps in Canada.

The two year Option / Joint Venture agreement 
with Xstrata Zinc Canada has been fulfilled as 
of March 31, 2008.  This two year program 
enabled El Niño to earn 50% interest in 1,902
selected land claims with Xstrata Zinc holding 
the other 50% interest. 

The Company, in conjunction with Xstrata, is currently assessing how exploration
should proceed on these 1,902 licences which include several significant historical 
zinc resources.

Bathurst  Agreement  Xstrata  Zinc /  
El  Niño Ventures Project  Update
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR AND QUARTER ENDED JANUARY 31, 2008 

May 20, 2008 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the 
audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes (“Financial Statements”) of El Nino 
Ventures Inc. (“the Company”) for the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007. Results have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and 
reported in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

For further information on the Company reference should be made to the Companyʼs public filings which 
are available on SEDAR. Information is also available on the Companyʼs website at 
www.elninoventures.com.  

This MD&A contains forward-looking information. See “Forward-Looking Information” and “Risks and 
Uncertainties” for a discussion of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to such information. 
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1.  OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY 

El Nino Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on February 19, 1988 under the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia, Canada.  The Company is an exploration stage company engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties in the Democratic Republic of Congo 
(“DRC”), Canada and Ireland with the aim of developing them to a stage where they can be exploited at a 
profit or to arrange joint ventures whereby other companies provide funding for development and 
exploitation. The Company has its registered corporate office based in Vancouver, British Columbia, 
Canada. 

As at May 20, 2008 the Company had 40,083,692 shares outstanding with a total market capitalization of
$10.8 million. 

By an agreement dated May 19, 2007, the Company has the option to acquire a 70% interest in certain 
mineral research permits in the DRC from GCP Group Ltd. (“GCP”), a private British Virgin Islands 
company. The mineral research permits granted by the Cadastre Miner of the DRC cover 352 square 
kilometres of prospective exploration areas in the DRC-Zambian Copperbelt, located between 
Lubumbashi and Likasi.  During February 2008, the mineral research permits were transferred by GCP 
into Infinity Resources SPRL (“Infinity”), the Companyʼs 70% owned Congolese subsidiary, in 
contemplation of the Company fulfilling all of the terms of the option agreement. 

On February 4, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with MIMECO AG (“MIM”) to acquire an 
initial 70% interest in a DRC permit in the DRC Copperbelt, located east of the Kinsevere Project of Anvil 
Mining. Under the agreement, the Company has the option to increase its interest to 85%. 

On May 26, 2006 the Company entered into an option agreement with Xstrata Canada Inc. (“Xstrata”) 
formerly Falconbridge Limited, to explore the Bathurst Mining Camp in New Brunswick, Canada. The 
Company has earned a 50% interest in 1,902 mineral claims held by Xstrata. The Bathurst Camp is a 
world class mining district with full mining, milling and smelter infrastructure, containing numerous 
copper, zinc, lead and silver volcanogenic massive sulphide deposits of different sizes. 

In Ireland, the Company is currently exploring 13 prospecting licences, acquired between October 2007 
and February 2008, and overlying approximately 500 square kilometres of the Central Carboniferous 
Limestone Basin, prospective for good grade zinc and lead mineralization. On May 5, 2008, the Company 
reported that it had commenced diamond drilling on these prospecting licences. 

The Bancroft properties comprise the Halo Project and the Silver Crater Project and include certain claims 
east of the town of Bancroft, Ontario, Canada. The Bancroft area properties in total are comprised of 37 
mineral claims containing 247 claim units. The claims cover a total of approximately 9,765 acres (3,952 
hectares), and are located 10-40 km to the east of the town of Bancroft, Ontario. Following preliminary 
exploration activity by the Company in the Bancroft, Ontario area, on October 23, 2006 the Company 
optioned its Bancroft properties to Boulder Creek Exploration, renamed CanAm Uranium Corp. 
(“CanAm”). On March 7, 2008 the Company sent a default notice to notify CanAm that they had 45 days 
to remedy the default in order to avoid termination of the option agreement.  The Company received no 
remedy for the default in the timeframe provided and therefore considers the option agreement void. The 
Company is currently evaluating the future exploration strategy for the properties. 
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On April 7, 2008 the Company received a letter from the British Columbia Securities Commission 
(“BCSC”) requesting the Company to amend, restate and re-file its 2008 quarterly financial statements and 
related MD&As, and its January 31, 2007 MD&A.  The reason for this letter was to bring the past filings 
of the Company up to applicable BCSC and CICA disclosure standards, and thereby increase the 
usefulness of these filings for investors.  The Company has until May 30, 2008 to submit these re-filings to 
the BCSC, and has been completing them in conjunction with the preparation of the January 31, 2008 
consolidated financial statements and MD&A. The Company does not anticipate any delay in meeting the 
BCSC’s requirements. 
 
On April 29, 2008, the Company filed a Form 15F with the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”) to voluntarily terminate the registration of its common shares (OTC Bulletin 
Board symbol: ELNOF) under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  The termination is 
expected to take effect no later than ninety days after the filing of Form 15F. As a result of filing, the 
requirement to file certain reports with the SEC, including Form 20F and Form 6K, immediately ceased. 
 
The Company shares (“Shares”) trade on the TSX Venture Exchange (ELN) and the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (E7Q). 
 
Project Updates 
 
a) Copper Project, DRC 
 
An initial cash payment of US$120,000 was made to GCP under the terms of the option agreement, and 
US$130,000 upon transfer of the titles of the mineral research permits (paid February 21, 2008).  
Additional cash payments totaling US$300,000 will be made in three equal annual installments, 
commencing May 18, 2008 (first payment of US$100,000 in progress).  300,000 shares of the Company, 
having an estimated fair value of $219,000, have been issued to GCP and 400,000 additional shares will 
be issued over a three year period, commencing with 200,000 shares on May 18, 2008 (issuance in 
progress), 100,000 shares on May 18, 2009 and 100,000 shares on May 18, 2010. 
 
In February 2008, the mineral research permits were transferred by GCP into Infinity in contemplation of 
the Company fulfilling all of the terms of the option agreement.  GCP owns the remaining 30% of the 
shares of Infinity and one of the controlling shareholders of GCP is an officer and director of Infinity, and 
has been retained by Infinity under a management contract to manage the project in the DRC, including 
the accounting function.  Should the Company not fulfill the terms of the option agreement, then the 
mineral research permits will be returned to GCP. GCP subscribed for its 30% interest in Infinity for 
$3,191 (US$3,000) and is carried until the Company has earned its 70% interest in the mineral research 
permits. 
 
The Company maintains that its mineral research permits are not affected by the current DRC review of 
mining contracts and it will continue to conduct business in the DRC under the rules and regulations of the 
New Mining Code that came into effect in 2003. 
 
Table 1 below presents the total net expenditures by quarter and to date for the Copper Project, DRC: 

TABLE 1: ($000's) 31-Jul-07 31-Oct-07 31-Jan-08
Copper Project, DRC Q2 Q3 Q4 31-Jan-08
Option maintenance costs 361$          -$              51$          412$          
Drilling and assays -                -                426          426            
Engineering and consulting 45              123           90            258            
Geological and field 180            274           -               454            
Geophysics 97              180           278          555            
Total 683$          577$         845$        2,105$       

Full Year
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On July 23, 2007, the Company announced that it was carrying out a remote sensing survey over its land 
position in the DRC. The aim of this program was to identify using Hyperspectral imaging mineralized 
zones on its properties. On August 20, 2007, the company announced the start of their airborne geophysics 
survey to be carried out by Aeroquest. The survey will cover the full area of its land position. On August 
20, 2007 the Company announced the start of its 2007 drilling program, consisting of 5,000 meters of 
reverse circulation drilling. On September 20, 2007, the Company announced the discovery of a new 
mineralized zone on its land position, and as at January 31, 2008, Infinity had drilled a total of 6,200 
metres.  
 
On March 14, 2008, the Company announced analytical drill results from a completed 6,200 metre reverse 
circulation drill program on Research Permit 5217 in DRC, receiving additional assay results which 
expand the apparent thickness of the mineralized zone to in excess of 35 meters. The Company anticipates 
that the current mineralization, which lies at the margin of a 2.8km long geophysical anomaly, will extend 
along strike as this anomaly is fully drill tested. 
 
The Company has received drill results from other holes drilled in an area of artisanal workings where 
workers were formerly mining high grade cobalt (“Co”) mineralization. This zone is outside the copper 
zone and is south of the geophysical anomaly. Drilling was performed during wet conditions, experiencing 
significant sample loss and preventing proper assessment of the cobalt potential of the area.  The Company 
intends to fully test the Cobalt potential of the zone when field conditions permit.  Results reported include 
the following:  

AN2-001 0  to  1m 0.72% Co and 0.50% Cu 
 35 to 51m  values ranging from 180 ppm to 0.53% Co and 130ppm to 0.4% Cu 
AN2-002 37 to 54m Values up to 0.14% Co and 0.21% Cu 
AN2-008 15 to 36m Values from 630ppm to 0.29% Cu 
AN2-009 10 to 23m Values from 0.12%ppm to 0.24% Cu 

 
On April 14, 2008, the Company announced that their 2008 drill program was in progress, with the 
Company expecting to drill over 25,000 meters during the following five months, comprising 12,500 meters 
of reverse circulation drilling and 12,500 meters of diamond drilling. 
 
b) Bathurst Zinc Project 
 
The Company has earned a 50% interest in 1,902 mineral claims held by Xstrata. As at January 31, 2008, 
the Company had advanced the required $5.0 million to the Bathurst Project, and Xstrata had expended a 
total of $4,816,534 on exploration.  The balance of $183,466 is shown as project advances at January 31, 
2008. To encourage advanced exploration in New Brunswick, the New Brunswick Government has 
contributed a total of $4.5 million (2007: $2.5 million) as matching payments for expenditures incurred on 
the Bathurst Project, with no further funding committed. A regional joint venture has now been formed 
between Xstrata and the Company. 
 
Following the Company vesting its 50% interest on March 31, 2008, the Company has 90 days following 
receipt of an annual report from Xstrata in which to elect to carve out one or more Project Areas from the 
existing Property, in each of which the Company can increase its interest to 65% by spending an additional 
$2.0 million over three years and can increase its interest in each Project Area still further to 75% by 
spending an additional $3.0 million over another two years.  Xstrata can back-in to increase its position 
from either a 25% or 35% interest level to 50% by contributing 2.5 times the Company expenditures made 
to increase its interest above 50%. Xstrata may increase its interest in one or more Project Areas from 50% 
to 70% at any time by electing to complete a Feasibility Study, or expend an additional $20 million on each 
Project Area within three years, or five years if underground work is necessary to complete the study.  
Xstrata will have the right to process the Company’s share of ore from any future operations. 
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The optioned claims and permits overlie a highly prospective sequence of volcanic and sedimentary rocks 
which extend for kilometres and have largely only been explored to shallow depths. Xstrata, as project 
operator, employs leading edge deeply penetrating geophysical techniques, including surveys to define drill 
targets. These systems enable highly reliable testing to much greater depths than earlier surveys. 
Approximately 24,000 metres of diamond drilling comprising about 34 diamond drill holes, employing 
three drill rigs, was anticipated to be completed during the first year program. 
 
Table 2 below presents the total net expenditures by quarter and to date for the Bathurst Zinc Project: 
 
TABLE 2: ($000's) 31-Oct-06 31-Jan-07 30-Apr-07 31-Jul-07 31-Oct-07 31-Jan-08 Life to % of
Bathurst Zinc Project, Canada Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 31-Jan-07 31-Jan-08Date (LTD) LTD
Option maintenance costs 37$          51$          -$             -$              21$           40$          88$          62$            150$        0$            
Drilling and assays 159          521          446          179            453           794          680          1,872         2,552       49.1%
Geological and field 120          69            116          61              42             49            189          268            457          8.8%
Geophysics 587          561          -               77              449           86            1,148       612            1,760       33.9%
Management fee -               100          38            38              50             50            100          175            275          5.3%
Total 903$        1,302$     600$        355$          1,015$      1,019$     2,205$     2,989$       5,194$     

Full Year

 
Note: no costs were specifically allocated to the Bathurst Zinc Project prior to July 31, 2006. 

 
Diamond drilling comprised 49% of expenditures to date (full year 2008: 63%; full year 2007: 31%). A 
total of 15,786 metres (40 holes) was drilled during 2008 (Q4 2007: 10,642 metres; 27 holes). The other 
significant expenditure to date was geophysics, comprising 34% of the life to date (full year 2008: 20%; 
full year 2007: 52%). Drill assay results were determined via visual inspection of core samples which did 
not support further assaying, and as at May 9, 2008 there was no significant mineralization to report. The 
Company is in discussions with Xstrata to determine how to move forward on these properties. 
 
c) Ireland Zinc Project 
 
The Company currently holds 13 prospecting licences, acquired between October 2007 and February 
2008, which overly approximately 500 square kilometres of the Central Carboniferous Limestone Basin, 
prospective for good grade zinc and lead mineralization. The Basin is host to several important zinc-lead 
resources including the three mines (Navan, Galmoy and Lisheen) currently in operation.  
 
By an agreement dated September 14, 2006, the Company and a Director entered into an agreement 
whereby the Director will assist and advise the Company in its efforts to acquire exploration licences in 
Ireland. Upon the Company being granted one or more exploration licences, the Company will pay 
$20,000 (paid) and issue 29,000 shares fair valued at $20,010 (issued). 
 
On September 21, 2008, 2009 and 2010 the Company will pay $40,000 per year.  In 2011 and each 
subsequent year the Company will pay the higher of $20,000 cash or 5% of the total exploration 
expenditures made by the Company in the twelve month period preceding the anniversary date of the 
licence grant. Once an aggregate of $500,000 has been paid, the agreement will automatically terminate. 
All of these payments will be made to a director of the Company as a mineral property finder’s fee. 
 
A total of $76,849 has been expended on the project to date as at January 31, 2008. These expenditures 
comprise $52,969 of option maintenance costs, and $23,880 of engineering and consulting and geological 
and field expenditures. 
 
On May 5, 2008, the Company reported that it had commenced diamond drilling on these prospecting 
licences in Ireland. The preliminary 4,000 metre drill program will test the two principal target horizons 
within the Lower Carboniferous limestone stratigraphy. Initial holes will test Navan Bed units on licences 
near Granard northwest of Dublin. Subsequent holes will test Waulsortian Reef targets on licences located 
southwest of Dublin. 
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d) Bancroft Uranium Projects 
 
The Bancroft properties comprise the Halo Project and the Silver Crater Project and include certain claims 
east of the town of Bancroft, Ontario, Canada. 
 
Halo Project 
 
By an agreement dated March 9, 2005 and amended April 14, 2005, the Company has earned a 100% 
interest in certain properties known as the Halo Project, Bancroft, Ontario, by making, at its option, total 
cash payments of $12,500 (paid), the issuance of 60,000 shares (issued) and the completion of $105,000 
(incurred) in exploration expenditures. The property is subject to a 3% NSR. The Company has the option 
to purchase 1% of the total NSR for $250,000. 
 
Silver Crater Project 
 
By an agreement dated March 9, 2005, the Company has earned a 100% interest in certain properties 
known as the Silver Crater Project, Bancroft, Ontario by making, at its option, total cash payments of 
$12,500 (paid), the issuance of 40,000 shares (issued) and the completion of $105,000 (incurred) in 
exploration expenditures. The property is subject to a 3% NSR. The Company has the option to purchase 
1% of the total NSR for $250,000. 
 
Bancroft properties option to CanAm 
 
On March 7, 2008, the Company sent a default notice to CanAm requesting they fulfil their obligations 
under the option agreement dated October 23, 2006. No remedy was received by the Company within the 
required 45 days, and the option agreement to CanAm has effectively been terminated and a write-off 
recorded for expenses not reimbursed by CanAm. 
 
$265,261 was expended on the project for the year ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $338,489 net 
recovery). As part of the CanAm agreement, in Q3 2007 and Q4 2007 the Company experienced a net 
recovery of expenditures resulting from the cash payment of $125,000 and receipt of 275,000 shares of 
CanAm. In 2008, $160,897 was expended on drilling and assays (2007: $nil). These drilling expenditures 
were directly related to the evaluation of the property through a targeted drilling program, and $157,986 of 
this amount represented expenditures owed by CanAm to the Company, which were expensed as 
uncollectable during 2008. In addition, $82,064 (2007: $25,761) was expended in engineering and 
consulting and geological and field expenditures. CanAm reimbursed expenditures are not included in the 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
As at September 28, 2007, the 2007 drilling program was complete, with 3,747 metres (15 holes) drilled, 
and all assay results were received, and no significant results were reported. 
 
Refer to “Section 5 – Contractual Obligations” for details on property option cash payments relating to 
the Company’s projects. 
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2.  FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
 
TABLE 3: ($000's)
(Unaudited) 30-Apr-06 31-Jul-06 31-Oct-06 31-Jan-07 30-Apr-07 31-Jul-07 31-Oct-07 31-Jan-08

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 (i) Q2 (i) Q3 (i) Q4 31-Jan-07 31-Jan-08
Exploration expenditures  $            23  $               -  $          903  $          954  $          634  $       1,099  $       1,630  $       2,073  $       1,880  $       5,436 

Other expenses              123              299              189              483              234              410              506           1,032           1,094           2,182 

Future income tax recovery                   -                   -                   -                   -         (1,703)                   -                   -                   -                  -         (1,703)

Net loss  $          146  $          299  $       1,092  $       1,437  $        (835)  $       1,509  $       2,136  $       3,105  $       2,974  $       5,915 

Net loss per share ($s)             0.01             0.02             0.07             0.10           (0.04)             0.06             0.07             0.10             0.23             0.20 

Totals assets  $          787  $       3,698  $       1,913  $       3,440  $       4,094  $       5,806  $       9,446  $       8,620 

Total long term liabilities
 (ii)                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                  3                  3                  3 

(i) amended and restated (see "Overview of the Company")

(ii) includes non-controlling interest relating to GCP's 30% ownership of Infinity (see "Overview of the Company - Project Updates").

Full Year

 
 
Exploration Expenditures 
 
TABLE 4: ($000's) 30-Apr-06 31-Jul-06 31-Oct-06 31-Jan-07 30-Apr-07 31-Jul-07 31-Oct-07 31-Jan-08
Exploration expenditure Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 31-Jan-07 31-Jan-08
By type:

Option maintenance costs 22$          -$             37$          (335)$       22$          361$          21$           144$        (277)$       549$          
Drilling and assays -               -               159          521          459          193            473           1,334       681          2,458         
Engineering and consulting -               -               -               24            -               66              128           118          25            311            
Geological and field 1              -               120          83            116          267            328           64            203          775            
Geophysics -               -               587          561          -               174            629           364          1,148       1,168         
Management fees -               -               -               100          38            38              50             50            100          175            

Total 23$          -$             903$        954$        635$        1,099$       1,629$      2,074$     1,880$     5,436$       

By project:
Copper Project, DRC -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             683$          577$         845$        -$             2,105$       
Bathurst Zinc Project, Canada -               -               903          1,302       600          355            1,015        1,019       2,205       2,989         
Bancroft Uranium Projects, Canada 23            -               -               (361)         35            61              37             133          (338)         265            
Zinc Project, Ireland -               -               -               -               -               -                -                77            -               77              
Other properties -               -               -               13            -               -                -                -               13            -                

Total 23$          -$             903$        954$        635$        1,099$       1,629$      2,074$     1,880$     5,436$       

Full Year

 

Net exploration expenditures were $5,435,922 for the year ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $1,879,167), 
and $2,073,230 for the three months ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $954,187). For details on the related 
projects and these related expenditures, see “Overview of the Company – Project Updates” above. 

Other Expenses 
 
TABLE 5: ($000's)
(Unaudited) 30-Apr-06 31-Jul-06 31-Oct-06 31-Jan-07 30-Apr-07 31-Jul-07 31-Oct-07 31-Jan-08

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 
(i)

Q2 
(i)

Q3 
(i)

Q4 31-Jan-07 31-Jan-08
Other expenses:

Consulting and management fees  $            78  $          146  $          102  $            90  $            33  $            72  $            45  $            39  $          416  $          189 

Promo and shareholder relations                20                68                  5              142                59              115                95              216              235              485 

Other costs                25                85                82              118                62                99                98              275              310              534 

Stock based comp                   -                   -                   -              133                80              124              268              241              133              713 

Write-down of investments                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -              261                  -              261 

Future income tax recovery                   -                   -                   -                   -         (1,703)                   -                   -                   -                  -         (1,703)

 $          123  $          299  $          189  $          483  $     (1,469)  $          410  $          506  $       1,032  $       1,094  $          479 

(i) amended and restated (see "Overview of the Company")

Full Year

 

Other expenses of $479,235 (including a write-down on investments and a future income tax recovery) for 
the year ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $1,094,371) decreased by $615,136. With the exclusion of the 
write-down on investments (2008: $261,249; 2007: $nil) and the future income tax recovery (2008: 
$1,702,766; 2007: $nil), there was a net increase in expenses of $826,399 due to increased activity within 
the Company relating to the increased corporate administration and associated costs required to evaluate 
and manage current exploration projects and work on new acquisitions, as discussed below. 
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Consulting and management fees of $189,374 for the year ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $414,859) 
included $26,500 (2007: $nil) of fees incurred by a director and geological consultant evaluating potential 
mineral projects, $37,872  (2007: $22,621) for a corporate secretary, $28,000 (2007: $nil) to a placement 
agency to recruit a geologist for the DRC Copper Project, $27,000 (2007: $nil) for a research report to 
summarize the activities of the Company, $25,000 for a consultant to assist the Company’s development, 
$33,000 (2007: $98,000) paid to the president and chief executive officer, Jean Luc Roy which decreased 
during the year due to his acceptance of full-time employment with the Company in 2008, and $14,000 
(2007: $40,922) paid to the former chairman, chief executive officer and director, Harry Barr for 
consulting assistance. $45,666 (2007: $nil) in property management fees relating to the Bancroft 
Properties were received during the year.  The remaining $47,664 was paid to facilitate the increased level 
of activity of the Company, and.  The hiring of the full-time chief executive officer has enabled the 
Company to decrease its overall expenditure on external consultants and managers, resulting in the 
$225,485 net decrease for the year. 
 
Promotion and shareholder relations expenses of $484,537 for the year ended January 31, 2008, (2007: 
$235,151) increased due to the growth of the Company during 2008. Expenses include $145,169 (2007: 
$nil) for US communications, $23,906 (2007: $nil) for European communications, $230,689 ($162,051) 
was incurred on several trade shows and advertising programs, $67,018 (2007: $73,100) for the use of 
consultants and to handle the increased level of the Company and the associated increased level of investor 
related questions, and $17,755 (2007: $nil) for website development. 
 
Other items of $534,195 for the year ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $311,793) increased by $222,402. 
Other costs include professional fees (legal, audit and accounting), travel expenses, wages, salaries and 
benefits, insurance, rent, transfer and filing fees, telephone, amortization, interest income on cash 
balances, net of bank charges, foreign exchange, and office and miscellaneous. Interest and foreign 
exchange of $131,082 (2007: $nil) comprised $112,211 (2006: $nil) interest on unexpended flow through 
funds, bank interest and foreign exchange of $18,871 (2007: $1,554) due to the exchange difference on 
year end on US$ denominated funds advanced to DRC. Wages, salaries and benefits of $163,911 (2007: 
$29,957) increased due primarily to the acceptance of full-time employment with the Company in 2008 by 
the president and chief executive officer, Jean Luc Roy. The remainder of the increase was due to an 
increase in corporate administration and associated costs required to evaluate and manage current 
exploration activities and work performed to evaluate additional projects and secure further financing, 
which were a direct result of the growth of the Company during the year. 
 
The total fair value of stock options that vested using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model resulted in 
stock-based compensation expense of $712,664 (2007: $132,568) for the year ended January 31, 2008. 
The 440% increase was due to the expense recognized on the 2,372,000 (2007: 1,588,642) stock options 
granted during the year under a graded vesting schedule with a total estimated fair value of $991,874 
(2007: $438,970). 
 
A $261,249 (2007: $nil) write-down on investments was recognized during the year due to the permanent 
impairment recorded on CanAm shares of $261,249 (see “Overview of the Company – Project Updates” 
above). The market value of these CanAm shares as at January 31, 2008 was $22,000, and as at May 20, 
2008 was $2,970. Due to the nominal trading volume, nominal share price and lack of activity in CanAm, 
the Company elected to write-down the full value of its investment in CanAm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q4 - May23 FINAL v5 PRINTER.pdf   8 05/25/2008   7:08:57 PM

13



 
 

During the year ended January 31, 2007 flow-through shares totalling $4,993,448 were issued, which 
funds were required to be spent on qualifying Canadian Exploration Expenditures.   Upon renunciation 
filed February 26, 2007, the Company no longer has the ability to use the expenditures for tax purposes 
and the Company was required to record a future tax liability of $1,702,766.  However, since the 
Company had unused tax losses and resource pools in excess of the renunciation, the future tax liability is 
offset by the reversal of a portion of the Company’s valuation allowance on future income tax assets and a 
recovery of future income taxes in the amount of $1,702,766 was recorded in the year ended January 31, 
2008. 
 
Other expenses of $1,031,885 for the three months ended January 31, 2008 (2007: $482,827) increased by 
$549,058. The increase in expenses is due to the increased activity of the Company, as discussed above. 
 
3.  FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
Table 6 below presents the assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity of the Company as at January 31, 
2007 and 2008: 
 

TABLE 6: ($000's)
Assets and liabilities As at January 31, 2008 As at January 31, 2007

Cash and cash equivalents 7,901$                              34$                                   
Accounts receivable and prepaids 240                                   65                                     
Investments -                                        261                                   
Project advances 183                                   3,035                                
Property, plant and equipment 296                                   45                                     

Total assets 8,620$                              3,440$                              

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 168$                                 137$                                 
Non-controlling interest 3                                       -                                        

Total liabilities 171$                                 137$                                 

Total shareholders' equity 8,449$                              3,303$                              

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprised of cash on hand and bank balances of $4,466,540 (2007: $33,780) 
and short term deposits of $3,434,487 (2007: $nil) that are cashable after 30 days without penalty, with 
interest rate guarantees extending up to one year. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as at April 30, 2008 was $6,700,789. 
 
Investments as at January 31, 2007 comprised 275,000 shares of CanAm, with a fair value of $261,250 
(see “Overview of the Company - Bancroft Uranium Project” above).  As at January 31, 2008 a write-
down was recognized on these shares, as management believes a permanent impairment exists, and a 
nominal value of $1, resulting in a $261,249 being recorded as a write-down on investments in the financial 
statements. Due to the nominal trading volume, nominal share price and lack of activity in CanAm, the 
Company elected to write-down the full value of its investment in CanAm. 
 
Project advances decreased as funds advanced to Xstrata relating to the Bathurst Properties were expended 
(see “Overview of the Company – Bathurst Zinc Project” above) 
 
Non-controlling interest as at January 31, 2008 of $3,191 (2007: $nil) relates to GCP’s 30% interest in 
Infinity, and will be carried until the Company has earned its 70% interest in the related mineral research 
permits (see “Overview of the Company – Copper Project, DRC” above). 
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As at January 31, 2008, 39,313,692 Shares were issued and outstanding, and share capital in the Financial 
Statements was recorded as $18,160,683, representing the net capitalization of the Company to January 
31, 2008. Table 7 below summarizes the changes in share capital from January 31, 2006 to January 31, 
2008. 
 
TABLE 7 
Changes in Share Capital 

Number of 
Shares 

Amount      

Balance – January 31, 2006 7,878,213  $ 3,625,393 

Private placements 2,958,000 1,202,400 

Private placements – flow-through 6,958,907 5,053,509 

Mineral properties 30,000 12,000 

Exercise of warrants 111,833 48,892 

Exercise of options 50,000 13,000 

Fair value on unit offerings assigned to warrants - (752,335) 

Share issuance costs - (513,847) 

Balance – January 31, 2007 17,986,953  $ 8,689,012 

Mineral properties (issued February 27, 2007) 30,000 12,300 

Mineral properties (issued May 19, 2007) 300,000 219,000 

Mineral properties (issued January 3, 2008) 29,000 20,010 

Private placement 3,750,000 1,500,000 

Private placement 6,015,000 3,007,500 

Private placement 5,888,889 5,300,000 

Exercise of options 417,642 264,572 

Exercise of warrants 4,896,208 3,015,702 

Fair value on unit offerings assigned to warrants - (1,302,901) 

Share issuance costs - (861,746) 

Future income tax on flow-through - (1,702,766) 

Balance – January 31, 2008 39,313,692 $ 18,160,683 
 
On August 30, 2007, gross proceeds of $5,300,000 were raised in a 5,888,889 unit non-flow-through unit 
private placement at a price of $0.90 per unit, consisting of one common share and one-half of one non-
transferable share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional 
common share up to February 28, 2009, at a price of $1.40 per warrant share. A commission of $318,000, 
and 353,333 broker warrants (fair value $101,406) were issued in connection with this financing. Each 
broker warrant entitled the holder to purchase one additional common share until February 28, 2009 at a 
price of $0.90 per warrant share (no warrants have been exercised). 
 
On July 9, 2007, gross proceeds of $3,007,500 were raised in a 6,015,000 unit non-flow-through unit 
private placement at a price of $0.50 per unit, consisting of one common share and one-half of one non-
transferable share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional 
common share until January 9, 2009 at a price of $0.60 per warrant share. A finder’s fee of $108,150 was 
issued in connection with this financing (75,000 warrants have been exercised). 
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On February 9 and March 7, 2007, gross proceeds of $1,500,000 were raised in two non-flow-through 
unit private placements totaling 3,750,000 units at a price of $0.40 per unit, consisting of one common 
share and one-half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitled the holder to 
purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.55 per warrant share (1,366,250 warrants were 
exercised and 508,750 warrants expired between February 9 and March 7, 2008). A commission of 
$96,000, a finder’s fee of $22,720 and 240,000 broker warrants (fair value $25,521) were issued in 
connection with this financing. Each broker warrant entitled the holder to purchase one additional common 
share at a price of $0.55 per warrant share (all warrants have been exercised). 
 
On February 27, 2007, the Company issued 30,000 Shares (at fair value of $12,300) pursuant to an option 
agreement for the Bancroft, Ontario uranium project (see “Overview of the Company - Bancroft Uranium 
Project” above). 
 
On April 10, 2007, the Company applied and received approval to extend the expiry date of the 600,000 
warrants set to expire April 24, 2007 for one year to April 24, 2008 at the same exercise price of $0.50 
(175,000 of these warrants were exercised, and 425,000 warrants expired on April 24, 2008).  This 
application was made to provide the Company with an additional source of financing without incurring 
additional share issue costs.  
 
On July 5, 2007, the Company applied and received approval to extend the expiry date of the 2,122,625 
warrants set to expire July 14, 2007 for nine months to April 14, 2008, and 443,750 warrants set to expire 
August 29, 2007 for nine months to May 29, 2008, both at the same exercise price of $1.00 (63,500 of 
these warrants were exercised and 2,061,625 warrants expired on April 14, 2008).  This application was 
made to provide the Company with an additional source of financing without incurring additional share 
issue costs.  
 
On July 11, 2007, the Company issued 300,000 Shares (at fair value of $219,000) pursuant to an option 
agreement for the DRC Copper Project (see “Overview of the Company – Copper Project DRC” above). 
 
On January 3, 2008, 29,000 shares were issued for mineral properties (at fair value of $20,010) pursuant 
to the agreement with a Director of the Company to assist and advise the Company in its efforts to acquire 
exploration licences in Ireland (see “Overview of the Company – Ireland Zinc Project DRC” above). 
 
Subsequent to January 31, 2008, 590,000 warrants and 180,000 options have been exercised. 
 
As at May 20, 2008 the Company had total issued and outstanding Shares of 40,083,692, and there were 
3,157,000 stock options and 6,671,527 warrants outstanding. 
 
4.  CASH FLOW, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Table 8 below provides an overview of the Company’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities for the three months and one year ended January 31, 2007 and 2008. 
 
TABLE 8: ($000's)
Summary of cash flows Three months ended Three months ended Year ended Year ended

January 31, 2008 January 31, 2007 January 31, 2008 January 31, 2007
Net change of cash related to:

Operations  $                    (1,191)  $                    (2,704)  $                  (3,638)  $                  (6,058)
Investing (99)                            (4)                              (295)                        (52)                          
Financing 1,713                        936                           11,800                    5,864                      

Net change in cash during the period  $                         423  $                    (1,773)  $                    7,867  $                     (246)

Cash & equiv. - Beginning of period 7,478                        1,807                        34                           280                         
Cash & equiv. - End of period 7,901$                      34$                           7,901$                    34$                         
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For the year ending January 31, 2008, the major uses of cash were under operating activities, being 
primarily a net loss after items not affecting cash of $6,348,914 (2007: $3,081,836) (see “Financial 
Performance Review” above). 
 
To fund its working capital, including exploration activities and corporate expenses, the Company requires 
continued access to capital markets to raise financing through equity offerings. All financing activities are 
currently provided through equity offerings (see “Risks and Uncertainties” below for a discussion of 
associated risk factors). 
 
During the year ended January 31, 2008, expenses of $6,348,914 (2007: $3,081,836) were paid on 
account of exploration expenditures and corporate costs.  These cash expenses, net of changes in non-cash 
operating working capital, resulted in a net cash outflow from operating activities for the year of 
$3,638,254 (2007: $6,057,653). 
 
During the year ended January 31, 2008, cash outflow from investing activities of $294,611 (2007: 
$52,331) comprised the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year, primarily in the 
DRC. 
 
A net amount of $11,800,112 in financing was raised for the year ended January 31, 2008 (2007: 
$5,864,197 net) through the issuance of common shares. Financing was raised for option maintenance and 
exploration costs, general working capital purposes.  
 
5.  CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
 
Table 9 below outlines the Company’s contractual obligations under its property option agreements (with 
corresponding receipts where applicable).  If the Company does not meet its property option maintenance 
obligations, it may be in default of the applicable agreement and could therefore lose the rights to the 
related properties under option: 
 

TABLE 9 
Property Option Cash Payments 
 
Fiscal Year Ending  
January 31 

DRC Copper 
Project  

$ 
2
 

Zinc Project, 
Ireland 

$ 

Bathurst Zinc Project, 
Canada 4 

$ 

Bancroft Properties, 
Canada 

$ 
Total 

$ 

2006 (paid) $               - $               - $                 - $    62,000 $       62,000 

2007 (paid) - - 2,500,000 82,300 2,582,300 

2008 (paid) 120,000 40,000 2,500,000 80,000 2,740,000 

2009 230,000 3 40,000 - - 270,000 

2010 100,000 40,000 - - 140,000 

2011 100,000 40,000 - - 140,000 

 $   550,000  $  160,000 $  5,000,000 $  224,300  $  5,934,300  
Notes: 
1 – Table includes only cash property option maintenance payments and excludes share issuances. 
2 – Denominated in US$ and has been converted at an exchange rate of US$1:$1. 
3 – US$130,000 paid on February 28, 2008 and US$100,000 payment in progress. 
4 – Includes the Company’s obligation to spend $5.0 million by March 31, 2008 (Note 6b). 

 
The table above excludes commitments under an operating lease dated December 1, 2006 for office space 
in Vancouver, expiring November 30, 2011 with monthly lease payments of $3,170, and an operating lease 
dated October 12, 2007 for additional office space in Vancouver, expiring October 31, 2012 with monthly 
lease payments of $4,163. The total future minimum lease payments subsequent to January 31, 2008 are 
$383,069. 
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6.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The related party transactions are as follows: 
 
i) During the year the Company paid $14,000 (2007: $40,922) for management fees to a company 

controlled by the former Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and director. 
 
ii)  During the year the Company paid $33,000 (2007: $98,000) for management fees to a company 

controlled by the President and Chief Executive Officer. 
 
iii)  During the year the Company paid $37,872 (2007: $22,621) for consulting fees to a company 

controlled by the Corporate Secretary. 
 
iv) During the year the Company paid $35,800 (2007: $32,794) for accounting fees to a company 

controlled by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
v) During the year Company paid $nil (2007: $13,223) for rent to a company controlled by the former 

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and director. 
 
vi) During the year the Company issued 29,000 shares valued at $20,010 (2007: nil) and $20,000 cash 

(2007: nil) as a mineral property finder’s fee, in addition to $26,500 (2007: nil) for consulting fees to a 
director. 

 
vii)  GCP owns 30% of the shares of Infinity and one of the controlling shareholders of GCP is an officer 

and director of Infinity, and has been retained by Infinity under a management contract to manage the 
project in the DRC, including the accounting function. 

 
The above transactions, occurring in the normal course of operations, are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
 
7.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Areas requiring significant management estimates include the 
valuation, impairment and useful life of intangible assets and property and equipment, and future income 
taxes. These estimates are reviewed periodically (at least annually), and, as adjustments become necessary, 
they are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. The Company’s significant 
accounting policies are described in Note 3 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the 
years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007.  
 
Management believes that the following items represent the Company’s most critical accounting estimates. 
 
Mineral Properties 
 
The Company is in the process of developing its mineral properties.  The Company has adopted the policy 
of expensing mineral exploration costs and periodic option payments incurred prior to the determination 
that a property has economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Management reviews and evaluates the carrying value of its mineral properties for impairment when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the related asset may not be recoverable. 
If the total estimated future operating cash flows on an undiscounted basis are less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized and assets are written down to fair value which is 
normally determined using the discounted value of future cash flows. Where estimates of future net cash 
flows are not available and where other conditions suggest impairment, management assesses whether 
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carrying value can be recovered by considering alternative methods of determining fair value. When it is 
determined that a mineral property is impaired it is written down to its estimated fair value. 
 
Ownership in mineral properties involves certain interest risks due to the difficulties of determining and 
obtaining clear title to claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous 
conveyance history characteristics of many mineral properties. The Company has investigated ownership of 
its mineral properties and, to the best of its knowledge, ownership of its interests are in good standing. 

 
Management Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported, and disclosed in the financial statements and 
the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Realization of the Company’s 
assets and liabilities is subject to risks and uncertainties, including reserve and resource estimation; future 
copper and other base and precious metal prices; estimated costs of future production, changes in 
government legislation and regulations, estimated future income taxes, the availability of financing, the 
valuation of stock-based compensation and of warrants, and various operational factors. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar.  All transactions initiated in other 
currencies are translated into the functional currency as follows: 
 
i) Monetary assets and liabilities at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date, 
ii)  Non-monetary assets and liabilities, and equity at historical rates, and 
iii)  Revenue and expense items at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the year. 
 
Gains and losses on translation are included in determining net income for the year. 
 
Flow-Through Shares 
 
Canadian Income Tax Legislation permits an enterprise to issue securities referred to as flow-through 
shares, whereby the investor can claim the tax deductions arising from the renunciation of the related 
resource expenditures.  When resource expenditures are renounced to the investors and the Company has 
reasonable assurance that the expenditures will be completed, future income tax liabilities are recognized 
(renounced expenditures multiplied by the effective tax rate) thereby reducing share capital. 
 
If the Company has sufficient unused tax losses and deductions (“losses”) to offset all or part of the future 
income tax liabilities and no future income tax assets have been previously recognized on such losses, a 
portion of the unrecognized losses (losses multiplied by the effective corporate tax rate) is recorded as a 
future income tax recovery up to the amount of the future income tax liability that was previously 
recognized on the renounced expenditures.  
 
New Accounting Standards Adopted 
 
Effective February 1, 2007 the Company adopted Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) 
Handbook Section 1530, ‘Comprehensive Income’; Section 3251, ‘Equity’; Section 3855, ‘Financial 
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement’; Section 3861, ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosure and 
Presentation’; and Section 3865, ‘Hedges’. These standards require the presentation of a statement of 
comprehensive income (loss) and its components, which is included in the financial statements. 
Comprehensive income (loss) includes both net earnings (losses) and other comprehensive income (loss).  
Other comprehensive income (loss) includes holding gains and losses on available for sale investments, 
gains and losses on certain derivative instruments and any foreign currency gains and losses relating to self-
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sustaining foreign operations where applicable, all of which are not included in the calculation of net 
earnings (loss) until realized. The only impact on the Company of adopting these new standards was the 
recognition of unrealized gains and losses on investments, which has been included as part of shareholders’ 
equity under “Accumulated other comprehensive loss”. As required by the prospective implementation of 
these new standards, the comparative financial statements have not been restated.  A transitional 
adjustment of $82,450 (Note 4 of the Financial Statements) has been recorded to provide for the unrealized 
gain in investments at February 1, 2007. 
 
The following is a summary of the accounting model the Company elected to apply to each of its significant 
categories of financial instruments outstanding as of February 1, 2007: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents…………………….Held-for-trading 
Accounts receivable ………………….……….Loans and receivables 
Investments……………………………………Available-for-sale 
Project advances ….…………………………..Loans and receivables 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ……..Other liabilities 

 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial 
liability, are netted against the fair value of the financial instrument on initial recognition, with the 
exception of transaction costs related to financial instruments that are classified as held for trading. 
Transaction costs related to held for trading financial instruments are expensed as incurred. 
 
Effective February 1, 2007, the Company early adopted CICA Handbook Section 3031 “Inventories”, 
which prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories and provides guidance on the determination of 
inventory costs and their subsequent recognition as an expense, including any write-down to net realizable 
value. The adoption of this new accounting standard had no impact on the Company. 
 
Effective February 1, 2007, the Company early adopted CICA Handbook Section 3064 – Goodwill and 
Intangible Assets, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 3062 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” and 
establishes revised standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and 
intangible assets.  The adoption of this new accounting standard had no impact on the Company. 
 
Effective February 1, 2007, the Company early adopted CICA Handbook Section 1535 “Capital 
Disclosures”, which establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity's capital and how it is 
managed. Disclosures required by this standard are included in Note 7 of the Financial Statements. 
 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
CICA Handbook Section 3862 “Financial Instrument Disclosures” and CICA Handbook Section 3863, 
“Financial Instruments – Presentation” requires entities to provide disclosure of quantitative and qualitative 
information in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate (a) the significance of financial 
instruments for the entity's financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising 
from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed during the period and at the balance sheet date, 
and management’s objectives, policies and procedures for managing such risks. CICA Handbook Section 
1400, “General Standards on Financial Statement Presentation”, has been amended to include requirements 
to assess and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. These two new standards will 
become effective for the Company on February 1, 2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact of 
these new accounting standards on its financial statements. 
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International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS")  
 
In 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board ("AcSB") published a new strategic plan that will 
significantly affect financial reporting requirements for Canadian companies. The AcSB strategic plan 
outlines the convergence of Canadian GAAP with IFRS over an expected five year transitional period. In 
February 2008 the AcSB announced that 2011 is the changeover date for publicly-listed companies to use 
IFRS, replacing Canada's own GAAP. The date is for interim and annual financial statements relating to 
fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The transition date of January 1, 2011 will require the 
restatement for comparative purposes of amounts reported by the Company for the year ended December 
31, 2010. While the Company has begun assessing the adoption of IFRS for 2011, the financial reporting 
impact of the transition to IFRS cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. 
 
8.  RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Company believes that the following items represent significant areas for consideration. 
 
Industry 
 
The Company is engaged in the exploration of mineral properties, an inherently risky business. There is no 
assurance that funds spent on the exploration and development of a mineral deposit will result in the 
discovery of an economic ore body. Most exploration projects do not result in the discovery of 
commercially mineable ore deposits. 
  
Commodity Prices 
 
The profitability of the Company’s operations will be dependent upon the market price of mineral 
commodities. Mineral prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of 
the Company. The prices of mineral commodities have fluctuated widely in recent years. Current and future 
price declines could cause commercial production to be impracticable. The Company’s revenues and 
earnings also could be affected by the prices of other commodities such as fuel and other consumable items, 
although to a lesser extent than by the price of mineral commodities. 
 
Competition  
 
The mining industry is intensely competitive in all of its phases, and the Company competes with many 
companies possessing greater financial resources and technical facilities than itself with respect to the 
discovery and acquisition of interests in mineral properties, the recruitment and retention of qualified 
employees and other persons to carry out its mineral exploration activities. Competition in the mining 
industry could adversely affect the Company’s prospects for mineral exploration in the future. 
 
Foreign Political Risk 
 
The Company’s material property interests are currently located in Canada, Ireland and the Democratic 
Republic of Congo. A significant portion of the Company’s interests are exposed to various degrees of 
political, economic and other risks and uncertainties. The Company’s operations and investments may be 
affected by local political and economic developments, including expropriation, nationalization, 
invalidation of government orders, permits or agreements pertaining to property rights, political unrest, 
labour disputes, limitations on repatriation of earnings, limitations on mineral exports, limitations on 
foreign ownership, inability to obtain or delays in obtaining necessary mining permits, opposition to mining 
from local, environmental or other non-governmental organizations, government participation, royalties, 
duties, rates of exchange, high rates of inflation, price controls, exchange controls, currency fluctuations, 
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taxation and changes in laws, regulations or policies as well as by laws and policies of Canada affecting 
foreign trade, investment and taxation. 
 
Government Laws, Regulation & Permitting 
 
Mining and exploration activities of the Company are subject to both domestic and foreign laws and 
regulations governing prospecting, development, production, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, 
mine safety, waste disposal, toxic substances, the environment and other matters. Although the Company 
believes that all exploration activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules and 
regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing 
rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail production or 
development. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing the operations and activities of the 
Company or more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the 
Company. 
 
The operations of the Company will require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities to 
carry out exploration and development at its projects. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
able to obtain the necessary licences and permits on acceptable terms, in a timely manner or at all. Any 
failure to comply with permits and applicable laws and regulations, even if inadvertent, could result in the 
interruption or closure of operations or material fines, penalties or other liabilities. 
 
Title to Properties 
 
Acquisition of rights to the mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and 
the area of, mineral properties may be disputed. Although the Company has investigated the title to all of 
the properties for which it holds concessions or other mineral leases or licenses or in respect of which it has 
a right to earn an interest, the Company cannot give an assurance that title to such properties will not be 
challenged or impugned. 
 
The Company has the right to earn an increased interest in certain of its properties. To earn its 100% this 
increased interest in each property, the Company is required to make certain cash payments. If the 
Company fails to make these payments, the Company may lose its right to such properties and forfeit any 
funds expended to such time. 
 
Estimates of Mineral Resources 
 
The mineral resource estimates used by the Company are estimates only and no assurance can be given that 
any particular level of recovery of minerals will in fact be realized or that an identified resource will ever 
qualify as a commercially mineable (or viable) deposit which can be legally or commercially exploited. In 
addition, the grade of mineralization ultimately mined may differ from that indicated by drilling results and 
such differences could be material. 
 
Cash Flows and Additional Funding Requirements 
 
The Company has limited financial resources, no sources of operating cash flows and no assurances that 
sufficient funding, including adequate financing, will be available. If the Company’s exploration programs 
are successful, additional funds will be required in order to complete the development of its properties. The 
sources of funds currently available to the Company are the sale of marketable securities, raising of equity 
capital or the offering of an interest in its projects to another party. There is no assurance that the Company 
will be successful in raising sufficient funds to conduct further exploration and development of its projects 
or to fulfill its obligations under the terms of any option or joint venture agreements, in which case the 
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Company may have to delay or indefinitely postpone further exploration and development, or forfeit its 
interest in its properties or prospects. 
 
Key Management 
 
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the performance of its key officers, consultants 
and employees. Locating mineral deposits depends on a number of factors, not the least of which is the 
technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. The success of the Company is largely dependent on 
the performance of its key individuals. Failure to retain key individuals or to attract or retain additional key 
individuals with necessary skills could have a materially adverse impact upon the Company’s success. 
 
Volatility of Share Price 
 
Market prices for shares of early stage companies are often volatile. Factors such as announcements of 
mineral discoveries, financial results, and other factors could have a significant effect on the price of the 
Company’s shares. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
A substantial portion of the Company’s expenses are now, and are expected to continue to be incurred in 
foreign currencies. The Company’s business will be subject to risks typical of an international business 
including, but not limited to, differing tax structures, regulations and restrictions and general foreign 
exchange rate volatility. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and such other 
currencies may have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations and could result in downward price pressure for the Company’s products in or losses from 
currency exchange rate fluctuations. The Company does not actively hedge against foreign currency 
fluctuations. 
 
Conflict of Interest 
 
Some of the Company’s directors and officers are directors and officers of other natural resource or 
mining-related companies. These associations may give rise from time to time to conflicts of interest. As a 
result of such conflict, the Company may miss the opportunity to participate in certain transactions. 
The Chief Financial Officer holds equivalent positions in two non-affiliated mining-related public 
companies (CanAlaska Uranium Ltd. and Freegold Ventures Limited). His time is distributed 
approximately equally among each of these companies. 
 
9.  FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
Forward-looking information is included in this MD&A, which involves known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, performance or achievements or industry 
results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by such forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is identified by the use of terms 
and phrases such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, 
“predict”, “project”, “will”, “would”, and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions. 
Such information may involve but are not limited to comments with respect to strategies, expectations, 
planned operations or future actions. 
 
Forward-looking information reflects current expectations of management regarding future events and 
operating performance as of the date of this MD&A. Such information involves significant risks and 
uncertainties, should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be 
accurate indications of whether or not such results will be achieved. A number of factors could cause actual 
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results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking information, including, but not 
limited to, the following factors (as discussed under “Risks and Uncertainties” below): industry; commodity 
prices; competition; foreign political risk; government laws; regulation and permitting; title to properties; 
estimates of mineral resources; cash flows and additional funding requirements; key management; possible 
dilution to present and prospective shareholders; material risk of dilution presented by large number of 
outstanding share purchase options and warrants; trading volume; volatility of share price; foreign currency 
risk; and, conflict of interest. 
 
Although the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is based upon what the Company’s 
management believes to be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual 
results will be consistent with such information. Forward-looking information reflects management’s 
current beliefs and is based on information currently available to the Company. Such information reflects 
current assumptions regarding future events and operating performance including, without limitation, a 
strong global demand for mineral commodities, continued funding and continued strength in the industry in 
which the Company operates, and speaks only as of the date of this discussion. The forward-looking 
information is made as of the date of this MD&A. 
 
10.  OUTLOOK 
 
On February 4, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with MIM to acquire an initial 70% interest 
(with the option to increase its interest to 85%) in a DRC permit in the DRC Copperbelt, located east of the 
Kinsevere Project of Anvil Mining. 
 
On April 14, 2008, the Company announced that in the DRC its 2008 drill program was in progress, with 
the Company expecting to drill over 25,000 meters during the following five months, comprising 12,500 
meters of reverse circulation drilling and 12,500 meters of diamond drilling. The current drilling is being 
performed by reverse circulation.  A diamond drill is expected to commence activity by the end of May, 
2008, and if required a second reverse circulation drill is available for use starting in late May 2008.  
 
At Bathurst, the Company has met its requirement of $5.0 million funding by March 31, 2008, and is in 
discussions with Xstrata to determine how to move forward on these properties. 
 
On May 5, 2008, the Company reported that it had commenced diamond drilling on its prospecting licences 
in Ireland. The preliminary 4,000 metre drill program will test the two principal target horizons within the 
Lower Carboniferous limestone stratigraphy. Initial holes will test Navan Bed units on licences near 
Granard northwest of Dublin. Subsequent holes will test Waulsortian Reef targets on licences located 
southwest of Dublin. The Company expects to assess these prospects later in the year, based on results. 
 
With the default of the CanAm option on the Bancroft properties, the Company will continue to look for 
other joint venture partners on these properties. 
 
The Company is proceeding with an aggressive acquisition program for new projects focusing on areas of 
known mineralization in the DRC, Canada and Ireland. 
 
11.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Additional information relating to the Company, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on the 
Company’s website at www.elninoventures.com. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting  
 
The consolidated financial statements of El Nino Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) and the information contained in 
the annual report have been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) in Canada and where appropriate, reflect management’s best estimates and judgements based on 
currently available information.  
 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management and the independent auditors 
to review the scope and results of the annual audit, and to review the consolidated financial statements and related 
financial reporting matters prior to approval of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Company’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who are appointed by the shareholders, 
conduct an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Canada. Their report outlines the 
scope of their audit and gives their opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  
 
 
 

 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
El Nino Ventures Inc. 
 
May 21, 2008
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
As at January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

 
 
  2008 

$          
 2007 

$                          

Assets     

Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13)  7,901,027  33,780 
Accounts receivable and prepaids  239,740  65,623 
Investments (Note 4)  1  261,250 
Project advances (Note 6b)  183,466  3,034,579 

  8,324,234  3,395,232 

     

Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)  295,506  44,709 

  8,619,740  3,439,941 
     

Liabilities      

Current     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  167,804  137,331 

 167,804  137,331 
     
Non-controlling interest (Note 6a)  3,191  - 

  170,995  137,331 
     

Shareholders’ Equity     

Share capital (Note 7)  18,160,683  8,689,012 
Contributed surplus (Note 9)  2,573,302  983,663 

Deficit (12,285,240)  (6,370,065) 

  8,448,745  3,302,610 

  8,619,740  3,439,941 

Nature of operations (Note 1)     
Related party transactions (Note 11)     
Commitments (Notes 6e and 14)     
Subsequent events (Note 16)     
 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 

            Director  
     

          Director  
 

 
- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements - 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Deficit 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 
 
 
 

  
2008 

$  
2007 

$ 

Expenditures     

     

Net Exploration Expenditures (Note 6)  5,435,922  1,879,167 

     

Other Expenses (Income)     
Corporate costs (Note 15)  1,366,462  1,009,797 
Stock-based compensation (Note 8)  712,664  132,568 
Write-down of investments (Note 4)  261,249  - 
Depreciation and amortization   43,814  8,384 
Interest income  (202,170)  (56,378) 

  2,182,019  1,094,371 

Loss before income taxes  7,617,941 2,973,538 

     

Future income tax recovery (Note 10)  (1,702,766)  - 
 
Loss for the year  5,915,175  2,973,538 
     
Deficit – beginning of year  6,370,065  3,396,527 

Deficit – end of year  12,285,240  6,370,065 
     
Basic and diluted loss per share  0.20  0.23 
     
Weighted average number of shares outstanding  28,974,023  13,072,409 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements - 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

  

2008 
$  

2007 
 $ 

Loss for the year 5,915,175 2,973,538 
     

Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss     
Transitional adjustment (Note 4)  (82,450)  - 
Unrealized loss on investments (Note 4)  82,450  - 
     

Comprehensive Loss for the year  5,915,175  2,973,538 
     
     

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements - 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

  
2008 

$  
2007 

 $ 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss for the year (5,915,175) (2,973,538) 
Items not affecting cash:     

Future income tax recovery (Note 10)  (1,702,766)  - 
Stock-based compensation  712,664  132,568 
Shares issued for mineral properties (Notes 7j, 7l and 7m)  251,310  12,000 
Shares received for mineral properties  -  (261,250) 
Write-down of investments (Note 4)  261,249   
Depreciation and amortization  43,814  8,384 

  (6,348,904)  (3,081,836) 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:     

Accounts receivable and prepaids  (174,117)  (61,731) 
Project advances  2,851,113  (3,034,579) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  33,654  120,493 

  (3,638,254)  (6,057,653) 
     

Cash flows from financing activities     
Issuance of common shares, net  11,800,112  5,864,197 

  11,800,112  5,864,197 

     
Cash flows from investing activities     

Property, plant and equipment  (294,611)  (52,906) 
Restricted cash  -  575 
  (294,611)  (52,331) 
     

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  7,867,247  (245,787) 

Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year  33,780  279,567 

Cash and cash equivalents – End of year  7,901,027  33,780 

     

Supplemental cash flow information (Note 13)     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements - 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 
 

 

1. Nature of operations  
 

El Nino Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on February 19, 1988 under the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia, Canada.  The Company is an exploration stage company engaged in the 
acquisitions, exploration and development of mineral properties in the Democratic Republic of Congo 
(“DRC”), Canada and Ireland with the aim of developing them to a stage where they can be exploited at a 
profit or to arrange joint ventures whereby other companies provide funding for development and 
exploitation. 

 
The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that the Company will obtain the necessary financing to complete the exploration and development 
of mineral property interests, or that the current or future exploration and development programs of the 
Company will result in profitable mining operations. 
 

2. Changes in accounting policy 
 

Handbook Section 1530, ‘Comprehensive Income’; Section 3251, ‘Equity’; Section 3855, ‘Financial 
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement’; Section 3861, ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosure and 
Presentation’; and Section 3865, ‘Hedges’. These standards require the presentation of a statement of 
comprehensive income (loss) and its components, which is included in the financial statements. 

Other comprehensive income (loss) includes holding gains and losses on available for sale investments, gains 
and losses on certain derivative instruments and any foreign currency gains and losses relating to self-
sustaining foreign operations where applicable, all of which are not included in the calculation of net earnings 
(loss) until realized. The only impact on the Company of adopting these new standards was the recognition of 
unrealized gains and losses on investments, which has been included as part of shareholders’ equity under 
“Accumulated other comprehensive loss”. As required by the prospective implementation of these new 
standards, the comparative financial statements have not been restated.  A transitional adjustment of $82,450 
(Note 4) has been recorded to provide for the unrealized gain in investments at February 1, 2007. 

 
The following is a summary of the accounting model the Company elected to apply to each of its significant 
categories of financial instruments outstanding as of February 1, 2007: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents……………………. Held-for-trading 
Accounts receivable ………………….………. Loans and receivables 
Investments….………………………………… Available-for-sale 
Project advances ….………………………….. Loans and receivables 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities …….. Other liabilities 
 

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial 
liability are netted against the fair value of the financial instrument on initial recognition, with the exception 
of transaction costs related to financial instruments that are classified as held for trading. Transaction costs 
related to held for trading financial instruments are expensed as incurred. 

 
Effective February 1, 2007, the Company early adopted CICA Handbook Section 3031 “Inventories”, which 
prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories and provides guidance on the determination of inventory 
costs and their subsequent recognition as an expense, including any write-down to net realizable value. The 
adoption of this new accounting standard had no impact on the Company. 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 
 

 

2. Changes in accounting policy, continued 
 

Effective February 1, 2007, the Company early adopted CICA Handbook Section 3064 – Goodwill and 
Intangible Assets, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 3062 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” and 
establishes revised standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and 
intangible assets.  The adoption of this new accounting standard had no impact on the Company. 

 
Effective February 1, 2007, the Company early adopted CICA Handbook Section 1535 “Capital 
Disclosures”, which establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity's capital and how it is 
managed. Disclosures required by this standard are included in Note 7. 
 

3. Significant accounting policies 
 

Basis of presentation and consolidation 
 

The financial statements of the Company and the accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”). 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of all entities controlled by the 
Company. The effects of transactions between entities in the consolidated group are eliminated. Where 
control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated statements 
of loss and deficit from the date on which control commences. Where control of an entity ceases during a 
financial year, its results are included for that part of the year during which control exists. 

 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its 70% owned subsidiary, 
Infinity Resources SPRL (“Infinity”), located in the DRC. All significant inter-company transactions and 
balances have been eliminated. 
 
Estimates, risks and uncertainties 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported, and disclosed in the financial statements and the 
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Realization of the Company’s assets 
and liabilities is subject to risks and uncertainties, including reserve and resource estimation; future copper 
and other base and precious metal prices; estimated costs of future production, changes in government 
legislation and regulations, estimated future income taxes, the availability of financing, the valuation of 
stock-based compensation and of warrants, and various operational factors. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are recognized at fair value and may include cash on hand, term deposits cashable 
within three months without penalty and short-term highly liquid investments with original term to maturity 
of three months or less which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Mineral properties 

 
The Company is in the process of developing its mineral properties.  The Company has adopted the policy of 
expensing mineral exploration costs and option maintenance payments incurred prior to management’s 
determination that a property has economically recoverable reserves. 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies, continued 
 

Management reviews and evaluates the carrying value of its mineral properties for impairment when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the related asset may not be recoverable. If 
the total estimated future operating cash flows on an undiscounted basis are less than the carrying amount of 
the asset, an impairment loss is recognized and assets are written down to fair value which is normally 
determined using the discounted value of future cash flows. Where estimates of future net cash flows are not 
available and where other conditions suggest impairment, management assesses whether carrying value can 
be recovered by considering alternative methods of determining fair value. When it is determined that a 
mineral property is impaired it is written down to its estimated fair value. 

 
Ownership in mineral properties involves certain interest risks due to the difficulties of determining and 
obtaining clear title to claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous 
conveyance history characteristics of many mineral properties. The Company has investigated ownership of 
its mineral properties and, to the best of its knowledge, ownership of its interests are in good standing. 
 
Investments 

 
Investments in publicly traded marketable securities are recorded at fair value as determined by active market 
prices. Unrealized gains and losses on investments are recognized in other comprehensive loss.  If a decline in 
fair value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, the unrealized loss is recognized in the statement of loss and 
deficit for the period. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are valued at cost less accumulated amortization.  The Company provides for 
amortization using the declining balance method as follows: 

 
i) Computer and office equipment – 20% 
ii)  Automotive – 20% to 30% 
iii)  Field equipment – 30% 
 
Asset Impairment 

 
The Company performs impairment tests on property, plant and equipment when events or circumstances 
occur which indicate the assets may not be recoverable. 

 
When estimated future cash flows are determined to be less than the carrying value, the asset is considered 
impaired. Reductions in the carrying value of each asset are recorded to the extent the carrying value exceeds 
the discounted estimated future cash flows. Where estimates of future net cash flows are not available and 
where other conditions suggest impairment, management assesses whether the carrying value can be 
recovered. 
 
Foreign currency translation 

 
The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar.  All transactions initiated in other 
currencies are translated into the functional currency as follows: 

 
i) Monetary assets and liabilities at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date,  
ii)   Non-monetary assets and liabilities, and equity at historical rates, and 
iii)   Revenue and expense items at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the year. 

Gains and losses on translation are included in determining net income for the year. 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies, continued 
 

Loss per share 
 

Basic loss per common share is calculated by dividing the loss available to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 

 
Diluted loss per common share is calculated using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock 
method, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used for the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive share options and 
warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the year. In the 
Company’s case, basic and diluted loss per share are the same as the effect of the outstanding stock options 
(Note 8) and warrants (Note 8) would be anti-dilutive. 
 
Flow-through shares 

 
Canadian Income Tax Legislation permits an enterprise to issue securities referred to as flow-through shares, 
whereby the investor can claim the tax deductions arising from the renunciation of the related resource 
expenditures.  When resource expenditures are renounced to the investors and the Company has reasonable 
assurance that the expenditures will be completed, future income tax liabilities are recognized (renounced 
expenditures multiplied by the effective tax rate) thereby reducing share capital. 

 
If the Company has sufficient unused tax losses and deductions (“losses”) to offset all or part of the future 
income tax liabilities and no future income tax assets have been previously recognized on such losses, a 
portion of the unrecognized losses (losses multiplied by the effective corporate tax rate) is recorded as a 
future income tax recovery up to the amount of the future income tax liability that was previously recognized 
on the renounced expenditures.   

 
Income taxes 

 
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for future income taxes.  Under this method, 
future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and 
accounting bases of assets and liabilities as well as for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to 
future years.  The amount of future tax assets recognized is limited to the amount that is more likely than not 
to be realized. 

 
Stock-based compensation 

 
All stock-based awards made to employees and non-employees are measured and recognized using a fair 
value based method.  For employees, the fair value of the options is measured at the date of the grant. For 
non-employees, the fair value of the options is measured on the earlier of the date at which the counterparty 
performance is complete or the date the performance commitment is reached or the date at which the equity 
instruments are granted if they are fully vested and non-forfeitable. For employees and non-employees, the 
fair value of the options is accrued and charged to operations, with the offsetting credit to contributed 
surplus, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  If and when the stock options are ultimately 
exercised, the applicable amounts of contributed surplus are transferred to share capital. 
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El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies, continued  
 

Future accounting requirements  
 

CICA Handbook Section 3862 “Financial Instrument Disclosures” and CICA Handbook Section 3863, 
“Financial Instruments – Presentation” requires entities to provide disclosure of quantitative and qualitative 
information in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate (a) the significance of financial 
instruments for the entity's financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising 
from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed during the period and at the balance sheet date, and 
management’s objectives, policies and procedures for managing such risks. CICA Handbook Section 1400, 
“General Standards on Financial Statement Presentation”, has been amended to include requirements to 
assess and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. These two new standards will become 
effective for the Company on February 1, 2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these new 
accounting standards on its financial statements. 
 

4. Investments 
 

 
                                                          

           January 31, 2008 January 31, 2007 

 
Market 
Value 

      Adjusted 
Cost             

Market 
Value 

      Cost 
             

CanAm Uranium Corp. (“CanAm”) 275,000 shares $ 22,000 $          1 $343,700   $261,250 

              
 
 The CanAm shares were received in the transaction with Boulder Creek Explorations Inc., which 

subsequently changed its name to CanAm (Note 6a).  
 
 As at January 31, 2007, the market value of the CanAm shares exceeded the cost base by $82,450 and the 

Company recorded this increase in investments and an opening transitional adjustment of $82,450 was 
recognized in opening shareholders’ equity.  

 
An unrealized loss on investments of $82,450 due to the decrease in fair value of the CanAm shares to their 
original cost has been included in other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended January 31, 2008. 
The Company has also recognized a permanent impairment on the CanAm shares, with a corresponding 
expense of $261,249 recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Loss and Deficit, due to the nominal trading 
volume and share price of CanAm.  

 
5. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
                                                                     

January 31, 2008 January 31, 2007 

 Cost   
Accumulated 

  Amortization         Net Cost   
Accumulated 
 Amortization         Net 

Automotive $189,825 $(25,592) $164,233 $28,469   $(4,270)   $24,199 
Computer and office 

equipment 101,184 (18,405) 82,779 26,300 (5,790) 20,510 

Field equipment 58,136 (9,642) 48,494 - - - 

Total $349,145 $(53,639) $295,506 $54,769   $(10,060)         $44,709 
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6. Mineral properties  
 
Details of exploration expenditures are as follows: 

 
 

Year ended 
January 31, 2008 

$  

Year ended 
January 31, 2007 

 $ 

Copper Project, DRC (Note 6a)    
     Option maintenance costs and related legal costs  411,985 - 
     Assays  13,723 - 

Drilling 411,920 - 
Engineering and consulting 258,111 - 
Geological and field expenses 453,981 - 
Geophysics 555,454 - 

Total 2,105,174 - 
     
Bathurst Zinc Project, New Brunswick, Canada (Note 6b)     

Option maintenance costs  61,518 87,513 
     Assays  - 21,585 
     Drilling  1,871,974 657,810 
     Engineering and consulting  - 8,682 
     Geological and field expenses  267,655 180,427 
     Geophysics  612,491 1,148,266 
     Management fee  175,000 100,000 

     Total  2,988,638 2,204,283 
     
Zinc Project, Ireland (Note 6c)    

Option maintenance costs 52,969 - 
Engineering and consulting 20,249 - 
Geological and field expenses 3,631 - 

Total 76,849 - 
     
Bancroft Uranium Projects, Ontario, Canada(Note 6d)      
     Option maintenance costs  22,300  22,000 
     Option payments received  -  (386,250) 
     Assays  10,323  - 
     Drilling  150,574  - 
     Engineering and consulting  32,778  11,490 
     Geological and field expenses  49,286  14,271 
     Total  265,261  (338,489) 
     
Other      
     Geological and field expenses  -  13,373 
     

Net exploration expenditures for the year 5,435,922 1,879,167 
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6. Mineral properties, continued 
 
Details of cumulative acquisition and exploration expenditures as at January 31, 2008 are as follows: 

 
Option 

maintenance costs Exploration costs 
Option payments 

received January 31, 2008 

Copper Project, DRC $  411,985 $  1,693,189 $                - $  2,105,174 

Bathurst Zinc Project, Canada 149,031 5,043,890 - 5,192,921 

Zinc Project, Ireland 52,969 23,880 - 76,849 

Bancroft Properties, Canada 110,463 358,356 (386,250) 82,569 

Total $  724,448 $  7,119,315 $  (386,250) $ 7,457,513 
 
 Details of cumulative acquisition and exploration expenditures as at January 31, 2007 are as follows: 

 
Option 

maintenance costs Exploration costs 
Option payments 

received  January 31, 2007 

Bathurst Zinc Project, Canada $    87,513 $  2,116,770 $                 - $  2,204,283 

Bancroft Properties, Canada 88,163 115,395  (386,250)  (182,692) 

Total $  175,676 $  2,232,165   $  (386,250)           $  2,021,591 
 

a. Copper Project, DRC 
 

By an agreement dated May 19, 2007, the Company has the option to acquire a 70% interest in certain 
mineral research permits located between Lubumbashi and Likasi in the DRC from GCP Group Ltd. 
(“GCP”), a private British Virgin Islands company.   

 
An initial cash payment of US$120,000 was made to GCP under the terms of the option agreement, and 
US$130,000 upon transfer of the titles of the mineral research permits (paid February 21, 2008).  
Additional cash payments totaling US$300,000 will be made in three equal annual installments, 
commencing May 18, 2008 (payment in progress) and ending May 18, 2010.  300,000 shares of the 
Company, having an estimated fair value of $219,000, have been issued to GCP and 400,000 additional 
shares will be issued over a three year period, commencing with 200,000 shares on May 18, 2008 
(issuance in progress), 100,000 shares on May 18, 2009 and 100,000 shares on May 18, 2010.  

 
In February 2008, the mineral research permits were transferred by GCP into Infinity, the Company’s 
70% owned Congolese subsidiary, in contemplation of the Company fulfilling all of the terms of the 
option agreement.  GCP owns the remaining 30% of the shares of Infinity and one of the controlling 
shareholders of GCP is an officer and director of Infinity, and has been retained by Infinity under a 
management contract to manage the project in the DRC, including the accounting function.  Should the 
Company not fulfill the terms of the option agreement, then the mineral research permits will be returned 
to GCP. 

 
GCP subscribed for its 30% interest in Infinity for $3,191 (US$3,000) and is carried until the Company 
has earned its 70% interest in the mineral research permits.  Accordingly, the amount paid by GCP is 
recorded as a non-controlling interest on the consolidated financial statements. 

 
The Company maintains that its mineral research permits are not affected by the current Congolese 
review of mining contracts and it will continue to conduct business in the DRC under the rules and 
regulations of the New Mining Code that came into effect in 2003. 
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6.   Mineral properties, continued 
 
b. Bathurst Zinc Project, Bathurst, New Brunswick, Canada 

 
 By an agreement dated May 26, 2006, the Company entered into an option agreement with Xstrata Zinc 

Canada (“Xstrata”) formerly Falconbridge Limited to explore the Bathurst Mining Camp in New 
Brunswick to acquire a 50% interest.   

 
As at January 31, 2008, the Company had advanced the required $5.0 million to Xstrata, and Xstrata had 
expended a total of $4,816,534 on exploration.  The balance of $183,466 is shown as project advances 
at January 31, 2008. To encourage advanced exploration in New Brunswick, the New Brunswick 
Government has contributed a total of $4.5 million (2007: $2.5 million) as matching payments for 
expenditures incurred on the Bathurst Project. 

 
Following the Company vesting its 50% interest on March 31, 2008, the Company has 90 days following 
receipt of an annual report from Xstrata in which to elect to carve out one or more Project Areas from the 
existing Property, in each of which the Company can increase its interest to 65% by spending an 
additional $2.0 million over three years and can increase its interest in each Project Area still further to 
75% by spending an additional $3.0 million over another two years.  Xstrata can back-in to increase its 
position from either a 25% or 35% interest level to 50% by contributing 2.5 times the Company 
expenditures made to increase its interest above 50%. Xstrata may increase its interest in one or more 
Project Areas from 50% to 70% at any time by electing to complete a Feasibility Study, or expend an 
additional $20 million on each Project Area within three years, or five years if underground work is 
necessary to complete the study.  Xstrata will have the right to process the Company’s share of ore from 
any future operations. 

 
c. Zinc Project, Ireland 

 
The Company currently holds certain prospecting licences acquired between October 2007 and February 
2008, in the Central Carboniferous Limestone Basin, prospective for zinc and lead mineralization. By an 
agreement dated September 14, 2006, the Company and a Director entered into an agreement whereby 
the Director will assist and advise the Company in its efforts to acquire exploration licences in Ireland. 
Upon the Company being granted one or more exploration licences, the Company will pay $20,000 
(paid) and issue 29,000 shares fair valued at $20,010 (issued). 

 
On September 21, 2008, 2009 and 2010 the Company will pay $40,000 per year.  In 2011 and each 
subsequent year the Company will pay the higher of $20,000 cash or 5% of the total exploration 
expenditures made by the Company in the twelve month period preceding the anniversary date of the 
licence grant. Once an aggregate of $500,000 has been paid, the agreement will automatically terminate. 
All of these payments will be made to a director of the Company as a mineral property finder’s fee. 
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6.   Mineral properties, continued 
 
d. Bancroft Properties, Bancroft, Ontario, Canada 
 

The Bancroft properties comprise the Halo Project and the Silver Crater Project and include certain 
claims east of the town of Bancroft, Ontario, Canada. 

 
Halo Project 

 
 By an agreement dated March 9, 2005 and amended April 14, 2005, the Company has earned a 100% 

interest in certain properties known as the Halo Project, Bancroft, Ontario, by making, at its option, total 
cash payments of $12,500 (paid), the issuance of 60,000 shares (issued) and the completion of $105,000 
(incurred) in exploration expenditures. The property is subject to a 3% NSR. The Company has the 
option to purchase 1% of the total NSR for $250,000. 

 
Silver Crater Project 

 
 By an agreement dated March 9, 2005, the Company has earned a 100% interest in certain properties 

known as the Silver Crater Project, Bancroft, Ontario by making, at its option, total cash payments of 
$12,500 (paid), the issuance of 40,000 shares (issued) and the completion of $105,000 (incurred) in 
exploration expenditures. The property is subject to a 3% NSR. The Company has the option to purchase 
1% of the total NSR for $250,000. 

 
Bancroft properties option to CanAm 

 
 By agreement dated October 23, 2006, the Company granted CanAm an option to acquire 80% of its 

Bancroft properties under certain funding requirements.  Under the terms of this agreement, the 
Company received 275,000 shares of CanAm (fair value $261,250) (Note 4) and cash payments totalling 
$125,000 (received).   

 
 On March 7, 2008 the Company sent a default notice to notify CanAm that they had 45 days to remedy 

the default in order to avoid termination of the option agreement.  The Company received no remedy for 
the default in the timeframe provided. The Company wrote off $157,986 (2007: $nil) of the receivable 
from CanAm relating to the calendar 2007 exploration program, and $nil is recorded as receivable from 
CanAm as at January 31, 2008. 

 
e. Details of property option maintenance cash payments are as follows 1: 

Fiscal Year 
Ending  
January 31 

DRC Copper 
Project  

$ 
2
 

Zinc Project, Ireland 
$ 

Bathurst Zinc Project, 
Canada 4 

$ 

Bancroft Properties, 
Canada 

$ 
Total 

$ 

2006 (paid) - - - 62,000 62,000 

2007 (paid) - - 2,500,000 82,300 2,582,300 

2008 (paid) 120,000 40,000 2,500,000 80,000 2,740,000 

2009 230,000 3 40,000 - - 270,000 

2010 100,000 40,000 - - 140,000 

2011 100,000 40,000 - - 140,000 

 550,000  160,000 5,000,000 224,300  5,934,300  
Notes: 
1 – Table includes cash only and excludes share issuances (Note 6), and commitments that are related to future 
lease payments (Note 14). 
2 – Denominated in US$ and has been converted at an exchange rate of US$1:$1. 
3 – US$130,000 paid on February 28, 2008 and US$100,000 payment in progress. 
4 – Includes the Company’s obligation to spend $5.0 million by March 31, 2008 (Note 6b). 
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7. Share capital 
 
Authorized 

 
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common voting shares without 
par value. 
 
Issued 

 Number of 
Shares 

Amount      

Balance – January 31, 2006 7,878,213  $ 3,625,393 

Private placements (Notes 7a, 7b, 7c) 2,958,000 1,202,400 

Private placements – flow-through (Notes 7d, 7e, 7f) 6,958,907 5,053,509 

Mineral properties (Notes 6, 7k)  30,000 12,000 

Exercise of warrants 111,833 48,892 

Exercise of options 50,000 13,000 

Fair value on unit offerings assigned to warrants - (752,335) 

Share issuance costs - (513,847) 

Balance – January 31, 2007 17,986,953  $ 8,689,012 

Mineral properties (Notes 6, 7j)  30,000 12,300 

Mineral properties (Notes 6, 7l)  300,000 219,000 

Mineral properties (Notes 6, 7m)  29,000 20,010 

Private placement –  (Note 7g) 3,750,000 1,500,000 

Private placement – (Note 7h) 6,015,000 3,007,500 

Private placement – (Note 7i) 5,888,889 5,300,000 

Exercise of options 417,642 264,572 

Exercise of warrants  4,896,208 3,015,702 

Fair value on unit offerings assigned to warrants - (1,302,901) 

Share issuance costs - (861,746) 

Future income tax on flow-through (Note 10) - (1,702,766) 

Balance – January 31, 2008 39,313,692 $ 18,160,683 

 
Placements 
 
a. On February 28, 2006, gross proceeds of $400,000 were raised in a 1,600,000 unit private placement at 

a price of $0.25 per unit, consisting of one common share and one non-transferable share purchase 
warrant (all subsequently exercised). Each full warrant had entitled the holder to purchase one additional 
common share at a price of $0.33 per warrant share. A finder’s fee of 80,000 shares fair valued at 
$20,000 was issued in connection with this financing. 

 
b. On April 24, 2006, gross proceeds of $240,000 were raised in a 600,000 unit private placement at a 

price of $0.40 per unit, consisting of one common share and one non-transferable share purchase warrant 
(175,000 warrants were exercised and 425,000 warrants expired on April 24, 2008). Each full warrant 
had entitled the holder to purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.50 per warrant share.  
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7.   Share capital, continued 
 
c. On July 14, 2006 (first tranche) and August 29, 2006 (second tranche), gross proceeds of $542,400 were 

raised in a 678,000 unit private placement at a price of $0.80 per unit, consisting of one common share 
and one-half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitled the holder to 
purchase one additional common share until April 14, 2008 (first tranche) and May 29, 2008 (second 
tranche), (extended from July 14, 2007(first tranche) and August 29, 2007 (second tranche)), at a price 
of $1.00 per warrant share (30,000 warrants were exercised and 293,125 warrants expired on April 14, 
2008). 

 
d. On July 14, 2006 (first tranche) and August 29, 2006 (second tranche), gross proceeds of $3,563,800 

were raised in a 4,454,750 flow-through unit private placement at a price of $0.80 per unit (Note 10), 
consisting of one common share and one-half of one common non-transferable, non-flow-through share 
purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share until 
April 14, 2008 (first tranche) and May 29, 2008 (second tranche), (extended from July 14, 2007(first 
tranche) and August 29, 2007 (second tranche)), at a price of $1.00 per warrant share (33,500 warrants 
have been exercised and 1,768,500 warrants expired on April 14, 2008). A finder’s fee of 25,000 non-
flow-through shares fair valued at $20,000 was issued in connection with this financing. 

 
e. On October 19, 2006, gross proceeds of $372,100 were raised in a 496,133 common share flow-through 

placement at a price of $0.75 per unit (Note 10).  A finder’s fee of 34,729 non-flow-through shares fair 
valued at $26,047 and 49,613 non-flow-through broker warrants, fair valued at $6,075, were issued in 
connection with this financing.  The broker warrants entitled the holder to acquire one common share at a 
price of $0.75 per warrant share (all warrants have been exercised). 

 
f. On December 27, 2006, gross proceeds of $1,057,548 were raised in a 1,922,815 flow-through unit 

private placement at a price of $0.55 per unit (Note 10), consisting of one common share and one 
common non-transferable, non-flow-through share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the 
holder to purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.65 per warrant share (all warrants have 
been exercised).   A finder’s fee of 25,480 non-flow-through shares fair valued at $14,014 and 124,705 
broker warrants, fair valued at $15,980, were issued in connection with this financing.  The broker 
warrants entitled the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.55 per warrant share (all 
warrants have been exercised). 

 
g. On February 9 and March 7, 2007, gross proceeds of $1,500,000 were raised in two non-flow-through 

unit private placements totaling 3,750,000 units at a price of $0.40 per unit, consisting of one common 
share and one-half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitled the holder 
to purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.55 per warrant share (1,366,250 warrants were 
exercised and 508,750 warrants expired between February 9 and March 7, 2008). A commission of 
$96,000, a finder’s fee of $22,720 and 240,000 broker warrants (fair value $25,521) were issued in 
connection with this financing. Each broker warrant entitled the holder to purchase one additional 
common share at a price of $0.55 per warrant share (all warrants have been exercised). 

 

Q4 - May23 FINAL v5 PRINTER.pdf   37 05/25/2008   7:09:21 PM

42



 

El Nino Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended January 31, 2008 and 2007 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 

 
 

 

7.   Share capital, continued 
 

h. On July 9, 2007, gross proceeds of $3,007,500 were raised in a 6,015,000 unit non-flow-through unit 
private placement at a price of $0.50 per unit, consisting of one common share and one-half of one non-
transferable share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional 
common share until January 9, 2009 at a price of $0.60 per warrant share. A finder’s fee of $108,150 
was issued in connection with this financing (75,000 warrants have been exercised). 

 
i. On August 30, 2007, gross proceeds of $5,300,000 were raised in a 5,888,889 unit non-flow-through 

unit private placement at a price of $0.90 per unit, consisting of one common share and one-half of one 
non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one 
additional common share up to February 28, 2009, at a price of $1.40 per warrant share. A commission 
of $318,000, and 353,333 broker warrants (fair value $101,406) were issued in connection with this 
financing. Each broker warrant entitled the holder to purchase one additional common share until 
February 28, 2009 at a price of $0.90 per warrant share (no warrants have been exercised). 

 
j. On February 27, 2007, 30,000 shares were issued for mineral properties at fair value of $12,300. 
 
k. On February 27, 2006, 30,000 shares were issued for mineral properties at fair value of $12,000. 
 
l. On July 11, 2007, 300,000 shares were issued for mineral properties at fair value of $219,000. 
 
m. On January 3, 2008, 29,000 shares were issued for mineral properties at fair value of $20,010. 
 
Capital Disclosure 

 
The Company manages its common shares, options and warrants as capital. As the Company is in the 
exploration stage its principal source of funds is from the issuance of common shares. It is the Company’s 
objective to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to explore and develop 
its projects for the benefit of its stakeholders. 

 
8. Stock options and warrants 
 

Stock options 
 

The Company has adopted a stock option plan (“the plan”) whereby, the Company may grant stock options 
up to a maximum of 20 percent of the number of issued shares of the Company. At January 31, 2008, the 
Company has reserved 4,353,390 common shares under the plan (January 31, 2007 – 2,037,642). 
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8. Stock options and warrants, continued 
 

The Company has granted stock options to directors, officers, consultants and certain employees.  Stock 
option activity is summarized as follows: 

 Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price   

Balance – January 31, 2006 319,000 $0.15 

Granted 1,588,642 $0.50 

Exercised (50,000) $0.15 

Forfeited (330,000) $0.50 

Balance – January 31, 2007 1,527,642 $0.44 

Granted 2,372,000 $0.62 

Exercised (417,642) $0.37 

Forfeited (300,000) $0.62 

Balance – January 31, 2008 3,182,000 $0.57 
 

At January 31, 2008 the following stock options were outstanding and exercisable: 

Number of stock options outstanding Number of stock options exercisable 
Exercise 

Price      
Expiry 

Date      

   110,000 110,000 $0.15 Sept.10, 2008 

1,000,000 666,458 $0.50   March 29, 2011 

1,822,000 574,000 $0.60      July 11, 2012 

   100,000 - $0.90      January 3, 2013 

   150,000 - $0.70      January 24, 2013 

3,182,000 1,350,458 $0.51  
 

Stock-based compensation for the year ended January 31, 2008 was $712,664 (2007: $132,568). 
 

As at January 31, 2008, a total of 1,831,542 options (2007: 967,431 options) are not exercisable as they are 
pending vesting. The fair value of the associated stock-based compensation calculated for these unvested 
options that has not yet been expensed is $440,265 (2007: $306,399). 

 
The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
with the following assumptions: 

 2008 
 

 2007 
 

Risk-free interest rate 3.6% to 4.6% 4.11% 

Options expected life 3.5 to 4.0 years 5  years 

Expected volatility 95.4% to 111.2% 79.61% 

Expected dividend yield nil nil 

    
 

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price 
volatility.  Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and 
therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the 
Company’s stock options. 
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8.   Stock options and warrants, continued 
 
Warrants  

 
Warrant activity is summarized as follows: 

 Number of 
Warrants 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price   

Balance – January 31, 2006 208,333 $  0.44 

Granted 7,155,723 0.70 

Exercised (111,833) 0.40 

Expired (134,000) 0.49 

Balance – January 31, 2007 7,118,223 $  0.70 

Granted 8,420,277 0.88 

Exercised (4,896,208) 0.53 

Expired (289,590) 1.00 

Balance – January 31, 2008 10,352,702 $  0.92 
 

At January 31, 2008, the following warrants were outstanding: 

Date 
Number of 

Shares 
Fair value of warrants  Exercise 

Price      
Expiry 

Date      

April 24, 2006 (Notes 7b) 1 515,000 $    60,440 $0.50 Apr. 24, 2008 1 

July 14, 2006 (Notes 7c and 7d) 1 2,061,625 334,886 $1.00 Apr. 14, 2008 1 

August 29, 2006 (Notes 7c and 7d) 441,250 39,565 $1.00 May 29, 2008 

February 9, 2007 (Note 7g) 1 623,750 52,006 $0.55 Feb. 9, 2008 1 

February 9, 2007 (Note 7g) 1 105,800 11,251 $0.55 Feb. 9, 2008 1 

March 7, 2007 (Note 7g) 1 375,000 27,627 $0.55 Mar. 7, 2008 1 

July 9, 2007 (Note 7h) 2,932,500 561,299 $0.60 Jan. 9, 2009 

August 30, 2007 (Note 7i) 353,333 101,406 $0.90 Feb. 29, 2009 

August 30, 2007 (Note 7i) 2,944,444 574,553 $1.40 Feb. 29, 2009 

Balance – January 31, 2008 10,352,702 $1,763,033   $0.92  

Note: 
1 – These warrants expired unexercised subsequent to January 31, 2008. 

 
The relative pro rata allocation of the fair value of the stock purchase warrants included in unit offerings is 
estimated on the date of issuance of the unit using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
assumptions: 

 
2008 

 
2007 

Risk-free interest rate 4.1% to 4.3% 4.09% 

Warrants expected life 1.0 to 1.5 years 1.2 years 

Expected volatility 71.5% to 83.8% 72.92% 

Expected dividend yield nil nil 
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8. Stock options and warrants, continued 
 

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price 
volatility.  Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and 
therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the 
Company’s stock options. 
 

9. Contributed surplus 
 
 2008   2007 

Balance – Beginning of year $      983,663    $    38,516 

Fair value assigned to warrants 1,302,901 752,335 

Fair value assigned to warrants on finders’ fees 126,927 69,866 

Exercise of options (111,401) (5,500) 

Exercise of warrants (441,452) (4,125) 

Stock-based compensation 712,664 132,571 

Balance – End of year $  2,573,302  $   983,663 

 
10. Income taxes 
 

Reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows: 
 2008   2007 

Loss for the year $  7,617,941 $  2,973,538 

Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates 33.90% 34.12% 

Income tax recovery at statutory rates 2,582,482 1,014,571 

Permanent differences (237,163) (78,397) 

Differences in foreign tax rates (65,083) - 

Change in valuation allowance (577,470) (936,174) 

Future income tax recovery $  1,702,766  $                 - 
 

 
The significant components of future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

Future income tax assets 2008   2007 

Non-capital loss carry forwards $    1,376,806 $    527,732 

Net capital loss carry forwards 48,594 63,770 

Share issue costs 259,549 140,546 

Resource property costs 323,578 987,384 

Other 75,441 3,432 

Future income tax assets 2,083,968 1,722,865 

Valuation allowance (2,083,968) (1,722,865) 

Net future income tax asset (liability) $                  -  $                 - 
 

 
The tax benefit of the above noted tax assets have been offset by recognition of a valuation allowance in 
these financial statements. 
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10. Income taxes, continued 
 

As at January 31, 2008, the Company had non-capital tax loss carry forwards, which have not been recorded 
in these financial statements due to the uncertainty of their recovery, available to reduce future prescribed 
taxable income in the DRC and Canada as follows: 

 
 DRC   Canada 

2009 $                 - $       66,605 

2010 - 81,481 

2012 2,081,509  

2014 and thereafter - 2,660,412 

 $  2,081,509 $  2,808,498 
 
Future income tax recovery 
 
During 2007, flow-through shares totalling $4,993,448 (Notes 7d, 7e and 7f) were issued, which funds were 
required to be spent on qualifying Canadian Exploration Expenditures.   Upon renunciation filed February 
26, 2007, the Company no longer has the ability to use the expenditures for tax purposes and the Company 
was required to record a future tax liability of $1,702,766.  However, since the Company had unused tax 
losses and resource pools in excess of the renunciation, the future tax liability is offset by the reversal of a 
portion of the Company’s valuation allowance on future income tax assets and a recovery of future income 
taxes in the amount of $1,702,766 was recorded in the year ended January 31, 2008.  
 

11. Related party transactions 
 
The related party transactions are as follows: 
 
a. During the year the Company paid $14,000 (2007: $40,922) for management fees to a company 

controlled by the former Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and director. 
 
b. During the year the Company paid $33,000 (2007: $98,000) for management fees to a company 

controlled by the President and Chief Executive Officer. 
 
c. During the year the Company paid $37,872 (2007: $22,621) for consulting fees to a company controlled 

by the Corporate Secretary. 
 
d. During the year the Company paid $35,800 (2007: $32,794) for accounting fees to a company controlled 

by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
e. During the year Company paid $nil (2007: $13,223) for rent to a company controlled by the former 

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and director. 
 
f. During the year the Company issued 29,000 shares valued at $20,010 (2007: nil) and $20,000 cash 

(2007: nil) as a mineral property finder’s fee, in addition to $26,500 (2007: nil) for consulting fees to a 
director. 

 
g. GCP owns 30% of the shares of Infinity and one of the controlling shareholders of GCP is an officer and 

director of Infinity, and has been retained by Infinity under a management contract to manage the project 
in the DRC, including the accounting function (Note 6a).   

 
The above transactions, occurring in the normal course of operations, are measured at the exchange amount, 
which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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12. Segmented information 
 

The Company’s only business activity is exploration and development of mineral properties. This activity is 
carried out in Canada, the DRC, and the Republic of Ireland. 

 
 The breakdown by geographic area for the year ended January 31, 2008 is as follows: 
 

 Canada  DRC Republic of Ireland Total 

Total expenses $  5,414,632 $  2,126,460 $  76,849 $     7,617,941 

     

Capital assets $       86,160 $     209,346 $            - $        295,506 

Current assets 8,176,952 147,282 - 8,324,234 

Total assets $  8,263,112 $     356,628 $            - $     8,619,740   
 
 

For the year ended January 31, 2007 all exploration and development of mineral properties was carried on in 
Canada only. 
 

13. Supplemental cash flow information  
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 
 2008   2007 

Cash on hand and balances in bank $   4,466,540  $  33,780 

Short term deposits 1 3,434,487 - 

Balance – End of year $   7,901,027 $  33,780 
Note: 
1 – Short term deposits include investments that are cashable after 30 days without penalty, with interest rate 
guarantees extending up to one year. 

 
Non cash investing and financing activities include: 
a) $1,702,766 (2007: $nil) related to a future income tax recovery on flow-through shares (Note 10) 
b) $251,310 (2007 - $12,000) related to share capital issued for option maintenance costs (Notes 6 and 7) 
 

14. Commitments 
 

The Company has committed to an operating lease dated December 1, 2006 for office space in Vancouver, 
expiring November 30, 2011 with monthly lease payments of $3,170. The Company has committed to an 
operating lease dated October 12, 2007 for additional office space in Vancouver, expiring October 31, 2012 
with monthly lease payments of $4,163. The future minimum lease payments are as follows:  

     

2009  $   87,985 

2010  87,985 

2011  87,985 

2012  81,647 

2013  37,467 

  $  383,069 

 
The table above excludes commitments that are related to maintaining property option payments, as disclosed 
in Note 6. 
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15. Corporate costs 
 

Details of corporate costs are as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 

January 31, 2008 

$  

Year ended 

January 31, 2007 

 $ 

     

Audit, accounting and legal  82,297  54,157 
Consulting and management fees   189,374  414,859 
Insurance  45,524  16,561 
Interest and foreign exchange  131,082  1,554 
Office and miscellaneous  113,567  86,039 
Promotion and shareholder relations  484,537  235,151 
Transfer and filing fees  44,287  29,095 
Travel  111,883  142,424 
Wages, salaries, benefits  163,911  29,957 
     

Corporate costs for the year 1,366,462  1,009,797 

 
16. Subsequent events 

 
On February 4, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with MIMECO AG (“MIM”) to acquire an 

Mining, by issuing 200,000 shares of the Company to MIM, and the Company making an exploration 
commitment of $1.5 million over three years, of which $500,000 must be spent in the first year of the 
agreement. The Company has the right at anytime to increase its interest to 85% by paying MIM the sum of 
$15.0 million. 

 
On April 29, 2008, the Company filed a Form 15F with the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”) to voluntarily terminate the registration of its common shares (OTC Bulletin Board 
symbol: ELNOF) under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  The termination is expected to 
take effect no later than ninety days after the filing of Form 15F. 
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El Niño Ventures Inc. is a junior exploration company

focusing its efforts on copper exploration in the Democratic

Republic of Congo (DRC) and base metals exploration in the

Bathurst Mining Camp in Bathurst, New Brunswick and Ireland.

"Our first set of assay results,
recently reported from our
initial drill program, have
demonstrated that we are in
a highly mineralized area.
Our 2008 drill program, has
started and will continue
until October 2008.”

Jean Luc Roy, President & CEO
El Niño Ventures Inc.
May 2008

A mining explorat ion company on the move



El Niño Ventures Inc.

1440 - 1166 Alberni Street
Vancouver, B.C.
Canada V6E 3Z3

Toll Free 1.877.895.6466
Telephone +604.683.4886
Facsimile +604.683.4887




